IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OVERIE, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL ANDRE' FUNCHESS,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO. 79,963

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDJGIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
FLORIDA BAR #197890
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court, and w 11 be referred to as petitioner in this brief. A one volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. A one volume transcript will be referred to as "T." Attached hereto as an appendix is the decision of the lower tribunal.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed July 9, 1991, petitioner was charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, the prior felony being robbery (R 7). The cause proceeded to jury trial on September 5, 1991, and at the conclusion thereof petitioner was found guilty **as** charged (R 18).

At trial, Sergeant Mark Stephen Boseman testified that on June 21, 1991, at 4:00 a.m., he saw petitioner running on West Seventh Street across Pearl Street. Petitioner then began walking North on Pearl and tossed a shiny object over a fence into a front yard of a house. He stopped petitioner and officer Calvey detained him while Boseman returned to the yard and found a chrome Raven .25 caliber pistol. The grass was wet from the dew, but the gun was dry (T 21-27). He did not process the gun for fingerprints (T 31-33).

Officer Freddie A. Calvey testified that he detained petitioner while Boseman located the gun, and it was entered into evidence over objection. Petitioner told the officer that "everyone in Springfield needs to have a gun" (T34-42).

The state then proved through his fingerprints that petitioner had a prior Duval County conviction, on October 22, 1987 (R 22-25), for unarmed robbery (T 44-55).

The state had filed **a** notice of intent to prosecute petitioner **as** an habitual violent offender, and had alleged a prior robbery conviction on March 30, 1986 (R **6**). At sentencing, the state explained that that was the date petitioner was placed an probation, but his probation was

revoked and he was adjudicated guilty of robbery on October 22, 1987, and amended its notice accordingly (T119-20).

The state relied solely on the judgment for unarmed robbery that had been entered into evidence at trial (R 22-25) as the necessary predicate offense (T 119-20). The court found petitioner qualified as an habitual violent offender based upon that offense (T 127).

The sentencing guidelines scoresheet called for a recommended range of 12 to 30 months (R 30). Petitioner was adjudicated guilty and sentenced as an habitual violent offender to 20 years in prison, with a 10 year mandatory minimum (R 26-31),

On September 23, 1991, a timely notice of appeal was filed (R 34). On October 21, 1991, the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to represent petitioner.

On appeal, petitioner argued that he could not receive an habitual violent offender sentence for a non-violent crime. In the alternative, petitioner argued it was cruel or unusual punishment to impose a 20 year sentence without parole and with a 10 year minimum mandatory. The lower tribunal held that petitioner could receive an habitual violent offender sentence for a non-violent crime, but certified the same two questions it had previously certified in <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,715:

- 1. DOES IT VIOLATE A DEFENDANT'S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN HE IS CLASSIFIED AS A VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.084, AND THEREBY SUBJECTED TO AN EXTENDED TERM OF IMPRISONMENT, IF HE HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF AN ENUMERATED FELONY WITHIN THE PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS, EVEN THOUGH HIS PRESENT OFFENSE IS A NONVIOLENT FELONY?
- 2. DOES SECTION 775.084(1)(B) VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY BY INCREASING A DEFENDANT'S PUNISHMENT DUE TO THE NATURE OF A PRIOR OFFENSE?

On June 1, 1992, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed, On June 18, 1992, this Court entered its briefing schedule order.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Principles of statutory construction require that an offense for which the state seeks an enhanced punishment as a habitual violent felony offender must be an enumerated, violent felony. The title evinces a legislative intent to require that the instant felony be a violent crime, so that it comports with the term "habitual violent felony offender." The phrase, "The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced" should be construed together with the act's title to read "The [violent enumerated] felony. ..." This construction is consistent with the plain meaning of the word habitual, and achieves the evident legislative intent to punish habitual violent crime more severely. Additionally, this reading of the statute is required to avoid the constitutional defects explored below,

If the Court rejects this interpretation and reaches the two certified questions, both should be answered in the affirmative. Thus interpreted, the statute bears no substantial and reasonable relationship to its objective of punishing repetition of violent crime. It permits imposition of an enhanced sentence as a habitual violent felon upon one who has committed but a single violent felony, The fixation on the prior offense, for which an offender has already been punished, also renders the enhanced sentence a violation of constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy.

In the alternative, petitioner will also argue that the sentence he received constitutes cruel <u>or</u> unusual punishment under the Florida Constitution. This is not the same as cruel

and unusual punishment under the federal constitution. The test is different, and focuses upon the penalties for similar crimes in Florida.

The proper remedy under either of these arguments is to vacate the sentence and remand for resentencing under the sentencing guidelines.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

THE HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY PROVISIONS OF SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES, MUST BE CONSTRUED TO REQUIRE THAT THE OFFENSE FOR WHICH A SENTENCE UNDER THOSE PROVISIONS IS IMPOSED BE A VIOLENT, ENUMERATED FELONY; A CONTRARY CONSTRUCTION RENDERS THAT STATUTE VIOLATIVE OF CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS AND DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROVISIONS.

### A. INTRODUCTION

In 1988, the legislature amended Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, creating among other changes a new classification, habitual violent felony offender. Ch. 88-131, 56, Laws of Florida. Section 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes, now defines a habitual violent felony offender as one who has committed one of 11 violent felonies within the past five years, or been released from a prison sentence for one of these crimes within the past five years, and then commits a new felony. Section 775.084(4)(b) provides enhanced penalties for those who qualify, including mandatory minimum terms.

The First District Court of Appeal has certified two questions, asking whether a sentencing scheme that permits enhancement of a sentence for a habitual violent felon violates constitutional Due Process and Double Jeopardy clauses when the offense for which the sentence is imposed is nonviolent. Petitioner addresses those questions below, First, however, this Court should determine whether an alternative construction which avoids these potential constitutional defects is possible.

## B. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

The habitual violent felony provisions suffer internal conflict. The statute's title invokes the term "habitual violent felony offenders." The term is repeated in Section 775.084(1)(b). The word habitual denotes an act of custom or habit, something that is constantly repeated or continued.

Oxford American Dictionary (1980 ed.). This Court has held that unambiguous statutory language must be accorded its plain meaning. Carson v. Miller, 370 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1979).

However, Section 775.084(4)(b) defines **a** habitual violent felony offender as one who commits **a** felony within five years of **a** prior, enumerated violent felony. The statute may thus be construed **as** permitting habitual violent felon enhancement for an unenumerated, nonviolent instant offense, **as** it was here. That construction permits a habitual violent felony offender sentence for a single, prior crime of violence.

Courts have a duty to reconcile conflicts within a statute.

In Re Natl. Auto Underwriters Assoc., 184 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966); Vocelle v. Knight Bros. Paper Co., 118 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960). A court may resolve such conflict by considering the title of the act and legislative intent underlying it, and by reading different sections of the law in pari materia. See Parker v. State, 406 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1981) (legislative intent); State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981) (title of the act); Speights v. State, 414 So.2d 574 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (in pari materia). If doubt over the meaning of the law remains, the court must apply a strict scrutiny standard and resolve the

ambiguity in favor of the defendant. State v. Wershow, 343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977). This result is consistent with the rule of lenity, a creature of statute in Florida. Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes. The rule, which requires the construction most favorable to the accused when different constructions are plausible, extends to the entire criminal code, sentencing provisions included. Cf. Bifulco v. United States, 447 U.S. 381, 387 (1980) (federal rule of lenity applies to interpretation of penalties imposed by criminal prohibitions).

Applying these principles, this Court should find that the instant offense must be a violent felony, as enumerated in Section 775.084(4)(b)1, to subject the offender to habitual violent felony sentence enhancement. The statute is certainly susceptible of different constructions on this point. Canales v. State, 571 So. 2d 87, 89 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (in dicta, court states that when requirement of prior violent felony is met, legislature intended offender be eligible for enhanced penalty "for a subsequent Florida violent felony.") evinces a legislative intent to require that the instant felony be a violent crime, so that it comports with the term "habitual violent felony offender." The phrase, "The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced" in Section 775.084(1)(b)2, should be construed together with the act's title to read "The [violent enumerated] felony. . . " This construction is consistent with the plain meaning of the word habitual, achieves the evident legislative intent to punish habitual violent crime more severely, and comports with the rule of lenity. Additionally, this

reading of the statute is required to avoid the constitutional defects explored below. <u>See Schultz v. State</u>, 361 So.2d 416, 418 (Fla. 1978) (when reasonably possible, a statute should be construed so as to avoid conflict with the Constitution).

Adoption by the Court of this interpretation does not require reconsideration of the statute as a whole, or review of sentences imposed under the nonviolent provisions. Presumably, only a small portion of sentences imposed under the habitual violent felony offender provisions are for commission of nonviolent instant offenses. These provisions would remain fully viable, although available in more limited circumstances.

Since petitioner present crime is non-violent, he should not have been eligible to receive a violent habitual sentence.

## C. CONSTITUTIONALITY

## 1. Due Process

If a construction of the statute which does not require the instant offense to be an enumerated violent felony is approved, the habitual violent felony provisions fail the due process test of "a reasonable and substantial relationship to the objects sought to be obtained." See State v. Saiez, 489 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1986); State v. Barquet, 262 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1972). This defect goes to the first of the two certified questions. As noted above, the label "habitual violent felony offender" purports to enhance the punishment of those who habitually commit violent felonies. Section 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes. This is the object the statute seeks to attain. However, as applied by the trial court, the statute does not require the current offense to

be an enumerated violent felony. Here, the state established only one prior violent felony, unarmed robbery, plus the instant, nonviolent, felony. On this record, there is no evidence of a habit of violent crime.

In the sentencing guidelines arena, this Court has held that one prior crime (second degree murder), followed by a subsequent crime (another second degree murder), does not constitute a continued or persistent pattern of criminality. State v. Dodd, 594 So.2d 263 (Fla, 1992). Petitioner asks: if persistent means the same thing as habitual, and if a defendant who commits two murders is not persistent, how can a defendant who commits a robbery followed by possession of a firearm be habitual or habitual violent?

The statute permits an even greater absurdity: A defendant may be convicted of attempted aggravated assault -- a misdemeanor -- in 1986, then be sentenced to 30 years with a 10-year mandatory minimum term in 1991 as a habitual violent offender for dealing in stolen property. Thus, despite its objective as expressed four times in the statute's use of the term "habitual violent felony offender," the only habit this construction of the statute punishes is crime, not necessarily felonious crime and certainly not habitual violent felonious crime.

The First District Court of Appeal rejected a similar due process argument in Ross v. State, 579 So.2d 877 (Fla, 1st DCA 1991), approved, 17 FLW S367 (Fla. June 18, 1992), rehearing

pending.' The court held that, "[i]n our view, just as the state is justified in punishing a recidivist more severely than it punishes a first offender, its even more severe treatment of a recidivist who has exhibited a propensity toward violence is also reasonable," Id. at 878. Petitioner has no quarrel with this proposition, except that the court's use of the word "propensity" does not reflect the showing required for habitual violent felon enhancement, Propensity connotes tendency or inclination. If the habitual violent provisions required that the state establish commission of two prior violent felonies, a propensity would be shown. However, a single, perhaps random act of violence does not fit within the common understanding of the word. In a guideline departure case, Judge Cowart of the Fifth District Court of Appeal has noted:

If the term "pattern" is not carefully defined by reference to objective criteria, looking for a "pattern" in a defendant's criminal record is like looking for a pattern or figure in the moon, or in the clouds or in the Rorschach test or in tea leaves or in sheep entrails—the process is highly subjective and the result is in the eye of the beholder. One sees largely what one wants to see. Those who do not like guideline sentencing can always say, "I spy a pattern and two offenses show continuous and persistent conduct "

<u>Lipscomb v. State</u>, 573 So.2d **429**, 436 (Fla. 5th DCA) (Cowart, J., dissenting), review dismissed, 581 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1991). The

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Petitioner is not arguing the statute is unconstitutional because the legislature failed to include aggravated battery in 1988 as one of the enumerated prior violent felonies.

manner in which the <u>Ross</u> court puts the word "propensity" to use sparks the same concern. By any objective measure, one violent offense does not establish a propensity. Moreover, as noted above, the expressed legislative intent is to punish habitual violent conduct, not merely a loosely defined propensity. The failure of the contested provisions to reasonably and substantially relate to this purpose renders its application a violation of due process of law.

# 2. Double Jeopardy

The state and federal constitutions both forbid twice placing a defendant in jeopardy for the same offense. U.S. Const., amend. V, XIV.; Fla. Const., art. 1, §9. The First District Court of Appeal has noted that the violent felony provisions of the amended habitual offender statute implicate constitutional protections. Henderson v. State, 569 So.2d 925, 927 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). The fixation of the habitual violent felony provisions on prior offenses renders application of this statute to petitioner a violation of these constitutional protections. This goes to the second of the certified questions.

To punish a defendant as a habitual violent felony offender, the state need only show that he **has** one prior offense within the past five years for a violent felony enumerated within the statute. The current offense need meet no criteria, other than

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The court labeled the undersigned's argument as "perfunctory." Id. at 927.

that it be a felony committed within five years of commission, conviction or conclusion of punishment for the prior "violent" offense. Analysis of the construction of this statute and its potential uses leads to an inescapable conclusion: that the enhanced punishment is not for the new offense, to which the statute pays little heed, but instead for the prior, violent felony. The almost exclusive focus on this prior offense renders use of the statute a second punishment for that offense, violating state and federal double jeopardy prohibitions. When that prior offense also occurred before enactment of the amended habitual offender statute -- not the case here -- the statute's use also violates prohibitions against ex post facto laws.

Habitual offender and enhancement statutes have been upheld against challenges similar to the one made here, as long ago as 1948, on the grounds that the enhanced sentence was based not on the prior offenses but on the offense pending for sentencing.

See, e.g., Gryger v. Burke, 334 U.S. 728 (1948). There the Court explained:

The sentence as a fourth offender or habitual criminal is not to be viewed **as** either **a** new jeopardy or additional penalty for the earlier crimes. It is a stiffened penalty for the latest crime, which is considered to be an aggravated offense because a repetitive one.

Id. at 728. Using the same reasoning, Florida's courts have also rejected challenges based on double jeopardy arguments. See generally, Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962);
Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1956); Cross v. State, 96
Fla. 768, 119 So, 380 (1928). If the provisions in question were

more concerned with repetition, the inquiry might end here. The only repetition on which this portion of the statute dwells, however, is the repetition of crime, not the repetition of violent crime. Its focus on the character of the prior crime, without regard to the nature of the current offense, distinguishes Florida's habitual violent felony offender sentencing scheme from other enhanced sentencing provisions. See Hall v. State, 588 \$0.2d 1089 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Zehmer, J., concurring), questions certified by unpublished order dated Dec. 12, 1991, review pending, case no. 79,237:

I view the imposition of the extent of punishment for the instant [non-violent] criminal offense based on the nature of the prior conviction as effectively imposing a second punishment on defendant solely based on the nature of his prior offense, a practice I had thought was prohibited by the Florida and United States Constitutions. This new statutory procedure is entirely different from the former concept of enhancing sentences of habitual offenders having prior offenses without regard to the nature of the prior felony, which has been upheld in this state and other jurisdictions,

This distinction is the point at which the amended statute runs afoul of constitutional double jeopardy clauses, as this Court correctly noted in Ross, supra, 17 FLW at \$368:

The entire focus of the statute is not on the present offense, but on the criminal offender's prior record.

The First District Court of Appeal did not meaningfully address this distinction in <u>Tillman</u> or <u>Ross</u>, <u>supra</u>, or in <u>Perkins</u> v. <u>State</u>, **583** So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. **78,613.** In Perkins, the Court rejected the same

arguments made here, on the authority of <u>Washington</u>, <u>Cross</u> and <u>Reynolds</u>, concluding that "the reasoning of these cases is equally applicable to this enactment." <u>Id</u>. at 1104. <u>Perkins</u> thus left unaddressed the constitutional implications identified by Judge Zehmer in <u>Hall</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The Florida provisions at issue focus not on any specific offense pending for sentencing, but on the character of a prior offense for classification purposes. Consequently, an offender subjected to the operation of Section 775.084(4)(b), Florida Statutes, is being punished more for the prior offense than for the current one. In effect, as noted by Judge Zehmer in Hall, this then is a second punishment for the prior offense, barred by the state and federal constitutions.

#### D. CONCLUSION

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