047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE 8/11

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL ANDRE FUNCHESS,

Petitioner

v.

CASE NO.: 79,963

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS, BUREAU CHIEF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0333646

CHARLIE MCCOY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For convenience, the State is following Petitioner's format. However, the State's response for each issue will first address jurisdictional considerations.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Petitioner's statement with the following:

- 1. The opinion below did not consider Petitioner's second issue, whether his 20 year sentence (with a 10 year minimum) violates the Florida constitutional ban against cruel or unusual punishment. Neither certified question addresses that issue.
- 2. (a) At sentencing, the trial court gave its reasons for treating Petitioner as an habitual, violent felon after determining that he met the statutory requirements. Those reasons include Petitioner's total disregard for the law, as demonstrated by his failure to comply with most of his probation conditions, his admitted occupation as a drug dealer, and his failure to pay court-ordered child support. (T 123-6).
- (b) As to the statutory requisites, the State notes that Petitioner's past offense was robbery (R 22-3). His present offense is possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R 18).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

# Issue I: Constitutionality of Habitual Violent Felon Statute

Both questions certified in this case are no longer of great public importance in light of <u>Ross v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. S367 (Fla. June 18, 1992). Consequently, the basis for this court's jurisdiction has been removed. Further review is improvident.

Petitioner's substantive due process claim, grounded upon the fact that his present crime is not one deemed violent, was expressly rejected by this court in <u>Ross</u>. That case also recognized that the habitual felon statute enhances only the current offense, thereby refuting Petitioner's double jeopardy claim. The answer to both certified questions is "NO."

# Issue 11: <u>Petitioner's Sentence as Cruel or Unusual</u> Punishment.

This issue is outside the scope of the questions establishing jurisdiction, and should answered. not be Otherwise, Petitioner's sentence is not excessive or disproportionate in light of his criminal record.

Since Petitioner's sentence is not disproportionate or excessive under the facts, it is not necessary for this Court to address whether Florida's constitutional ban of "cruel or

unusual" punishment is substantively different from the U.S. Constitution's prohibition of punishment that is "cruel and unusual."

Petitioner provides no historic or legal justification for interpreting the Florida and federal language differently. Even if his interpretation — that the Florida provision affords greater protection to repeat, violent felons — is correct, Petitioner cannot reasonably argue that his sentence of 20 years (with a 10-year minimum) is so severe as to shock the conscience.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# WHETHER THE HABITUAL VIOLENT FELON STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

#### A. Introduction and Jurisdictional Considerations

Petitioner's observations require no response. While the State agrees this Court should adopt a constitutional interpretation of the habitual violent felon statute, the State hastens to add that the caurt has recently done so. See Ross v. State, 17 F.L.W. S367 (Fla. June 18, 1992) (upholding the 1988 version against vagueness, equal protection and due process challenges).

Ross is the basis for the State's next point. That case expressly rejected a due process attack on the 1988 version of the habitual felon statute. Such attack was grounded solely on the fact that the statute does not require a defendant's present felony be violent, so long as at least one past felony is among those deemed violent by **the** statute. As this Court said: "There is nothing irrational about this process.'' Id. at \$368. Additionally, Ross noted that the statute is "entirely justified in enhancing an offender's present penalty for a nonviolent crime based on an extensive or violent criminal history." Id.

For purposes of the certified question, there is no significant difference between the 1988 and 1989 versions of the habitual, violent felon statute. Ross has effectively answered both questions certified in this case, and answered them in the negative.

Therefore, the instant certified questions are no longer of great public importance. The basis upon which this Court accepted jurisdiction has been removed by Ross. Moreover, Petitioner's second issue was not addressed by the opinion below, and is outside the scope of the certified questions. The State suggests that further review would be improvident.

#### B. Statutory Construction

Imagining "internal conflict" (pet. brief,  $\mathbf{p}$ . 8) in the habitual violent felon statute, Petitioner first advances a statutory construction argument relying on the dictionary definition of "habitual". The flaws in this approach are numerous.

First, the habitual violent felon statute is precise. See Ross, supra at S368 ("{T]his statute is highly specific in the requirements that must be met before habitualization can occur."). Since the statute is "highly specific", there is no need to resort to principles of statutory construction. State v. Egar, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Bewick v. State, 501 So.2d 72 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Notably, even Petitioner implicitly concedes the statute is precise, as his due process argument is based on the correct reading of §775.084(1)(b); which defines "habitual violent felony offender" as a defendant convicted of a violent Florida felony within the last five years, and whose present conviction is also a felony. Petitioner is able to read the definition and correctly learn that his present offense need not be violent.

Otherwise Petitioner's observation that the statute suffers internal conflict through it3 definition of "habitual" is self-defeating. Since the statute provides the definition, the common

usage or definition of "habitual" is not applicable. See, Southeastern Fisheries Assoc., Inc. v. Dept. of Natural Resources, 453 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984) (when statute does not define words of common usage, plain meaning is ascribed). Deprived of its central premise, Petitioner's argument collapses.

#### C. Constitutionality

#### 1. Due Process

The bud of Petitioner's argument has been nipped by <u>Ross</u>. That case upheld the 1988 version of the habitual violent felon statute against **the exact** challenge now made by Petitioner. That Petitioner was sentenced under the **1989** version is immaterial, as the **1989** changes merely added aggravated battery to the list of violent felonies that could substantiate such classification. See § 1, ch. 89-280, Laws of Florida.

Petitioner's substantive due process challenge turns on whether the statutory classification (i.e., the definition of "habitual violent felony of fender") bears a reasonable relationship to the purpose sought. <u>State v. Saiez</u>, **489** So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1986). For substantive due process purposes:

It need only be shown that the challenged legislative activity is not arbitrary or unreasonable. Courts will not be concerned with whether the particular legislation in question is the most prudent choice. [I]f

the legislation is a reasonably means to achieve the intended end, it will be upheld.

<u>s ica</u>, 489 So.2d at 1129 (Barkett, J.) quoting with approval, <u>State</u> <u>v. Walker</u>, 444 So.2d 1137, 1138-9 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984)(Grimes, J.), affirmed and lower court opinion adopted, 461 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1984).

The obvious intent and purpose of the habitual felon statute is to punish recidivists more harshly than first-time felons; and to punish violent felons more harshly still. See, Barfield v. State, 17 F.L.W. S32 (Fla. Jan. 9, 1992)("Moreover, Florida's habitual offender statute provides a statutory means of dealing with persistent criminal conduct."); and Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219, 223 (Fla. 1980)(noting purpose of earlier version of habitual offender statute). The entire statute does just that.

It takes only one prior felony conviction — if "violent" — to qualify as a violent **repeat** felon; as opposed to **two** prior convictions for nonviolent habitual felons. The current offense need not be violent. Minimum mandatory sentences are imposed, whereas there are no minimum sentences for nonviolent habitual felons. 1

Perhaps as a balancing factor, classification as a violent habitual felon must be based on Florida convictions, since the definition of habitual, violent felony offender does not include the phrase "qualified offense."

A person whose criminal conduct includes past commission of a violent felony plus another felony in the present is subject to a lengthier sentence with a mandatory minimum. The question becomes whether such a sentence is a reasonable means to protect society. The question answers itself. A repeat felon strongly demonstrates a lack of rehabilitation, and presents a continuing threat to the public. Violent past crimes raise the possibility of violent future crimes. Simply because the present crime need not be violent does not render the statute unconstitutional.

Ross contends that due process also is offended ..., We disagree. . . The State is entirely justified in enhancing an offender's present penalty for nonviolent crime based on an extensive or violent criminal history.

Petitioner committed robbery in the past. His present offense is possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, a crime often associated with other violent felonies. There is no reason to believe he would not commit violent crime again. Society, through the Legislature, need not wait for him to combine his two prior felonies into the single offense of robbery with a firearm -- and perhaps shoot a convenience store clerk -- before

This possibility is heightened in Petitioner's case. As noted by the trial court at sentencing, Petitioner refused to obey probation conditions and refused to pay court-ordered child support (T 123-6); both of which indicate a propensity to disregard the law.

deciding that lengthier imprisonment with a mandatory minimum is the appropriate penalty. Petitioner's criminal history refutes his lame due process argument. This Court must deny relief on that ground.

#### 2. Double Jeopardy

Although relied upon above in response to a due process claim, Ross sounds the death knell for Petitioner's double jeopardy argument. While acknowledging that the habitual felon statute focuses on the criminal offender's prior record, Ross also declared that the State was "entirely justified in enhancing an offender's present penalty." [e.s.] (Id. at \$368).

As this Court just recognized, the habitual violent felon statute enhances only the <u>present</u> felony. Consequently, it is simply impossible for such a felon to be punished twice for the past offense. There is no need to go further to deny relief.

Petitioner begins his argument by noting that the "state and federal constitutions both forbid twice placing a defendant in jeopardy for the same offense." [e.s.] (initial brief, p. 13). However, Petitioner's argument does not substantively distinguish the two constitutions. It could not, as both provisions are interpreted the same. See, Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161, 164 (Fla. 1987) ("[The] double jeopardy clause in article I, section 9, Florida Constitution . . . was intended to mirror . . . the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth amendment."). There are no independent state constitutional grounds upon which to answer the certified question. Petitioner does not suggest any.

Nevertheless, Petitioner's argument is based on the third protection provided by the double jeopardy clause, the prohibition against multiple punishments for the same offense. See, e.g., United States v. Di Francesco, 449 U.S. 117, 101 S.Ct. **426, 66** L.Ed.2d 328 (1980). It is obvious that Petitioner's current offense, and his earlier robbery, are separate because they are separate in time. Hence, the double jeopardy clause would be violated here only if the current punishment was imposed for the 1987 robbery, rather than for Petitioner's current firearm possession conviction. The record is clear, however, that Petitioner was sentenced by the trial court in the instant case for the 1991 firearm possession (R 26-30, T 126-7), and that his prior punishment for the 1989 offense was not altered in any way. Consequently, no double jeopardy violation exists. 4

If this Court were to give credence to Petitioner's claim, it would have to reject all cases which denote the scope of the double jeopardy clause. Moreover, this Court would be

Petitioner relies heavily (initial brief, p. 15) on the concurring opinion of Judge Zehmer in Hall v. State, 588 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). That concurrence finds constitutional significance in the fact that a felon may be declared habitual and violent when at least one of several "violent" felonies have been committed in the recent past, even though the current offense need not be violent. The concurrence is specious: if the Legislature can declare a felon "habitual" merely for the commission of any prior felony, it is absurd to think an enhanced sentence is not possible when the past felony is violent. The concurring opinion represents no more than personal disagreement with the wisdom of the statute.

required to invalidate the sentencing guidelines and the capital sentencing procedures, both of which aggravate a defendant's current sentence based on the nature and seriousness of prior offenses.

Such radical action is not necessary. As this Court aptly stated in <u>Cross v. State</u>, 96 Fla. 768, **119 So. 380, 386** (Fla. 1928):

"The propriety of inflicting severer punishment upon old offenders has long been recognized in this County and in England. They are not punished the second time for the earlier offense, but the repetition of criminal conduct aggravates their guilt and justifies heavier penalties when they are again convicted." As was said in People v. Stanley, 47 Cal. 113, 17 Am. Rep. 401: "The punishment for the second by [offense] increased, because is his persistence in the perpetration of crime he [the defendant] has evinced a depravity, which merits a greater punishment, and needs to be restrained by severer penalties than if it were his first offense." And as was said by Chief Justice Parker in Ross' Case, 2 Pick. (Mass.) 165: "The punishment is for the last offense committed, and it is rendered more severe in consequence of the situation into which the party had previously brought himself." The statute does not make it an offense or crime for one to have been convicted more than once. The law simply prescribes a longer sentence for a second or subsequent offense for the reason that the prior convictions taken in connection with the subsequent offense demonstrates the incorrigible and dangerous character of accused thereby establishing the necessity for enhanced The imposition of such enhanced restraint. punishment is not a prosecution of or punishment for the farmer convictions. The Constitution forbids such action. The enhanced punishment is

an incident to the last offense alone. But for that offense it would not be imposed.

Id. at 386 (quoting Graham v. West Virginia, 224 U.S. 616 (1912)(citation omitted). See also, Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621, 623 (Fla. 1956); Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962); Conley v. State, case no. 90-1745 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 2, 1992); and Barber v. State, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(again rejecting the same argument raised here by petitioner).

As is evident from the above sampling of cases:

[Recidivist] statutes are neither new to Florida nor to modern jurisprudence. Recidivist legislation . . has repeatedly withstood attacks that it violates constitutional rights against ex post facto laws, constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, denies defendants equal protection of the law, violates due process or involves double jeopardy.

#### Reynolds, 138 So.2d at 502-3.

Petitioner's argument ignores other significant facts relating to habitual offender sentencing in Florida. For example, the 1988 changes to the habitual offender statute actually reduced the pool of defendants who could be classified

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  The pool of defendants is smaller, as a defendant must now have two prior felony convictions, or one conviction for a felony deemed "violent". One conviction for a "nonviolent" felony is no longer sufficient.

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